IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA STATE OF FLORIDA 500 South Duval Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1927

GARY RAY BOWLES

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appeal No.:SC0L.T. Court No.:94-C

SC05-2264 94-CF-12188

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF, PURSUANT TO FLA. R. APP. PRO. RULE 9.210

On Appeal from the Circuit Court, Fourth Judicial Circuit, and For Duval County, Florida

> Honorable Jack Schemer Judge of the Circuit Court, Division A

FRANK J. TASSONE, JR. ESQ. Fla. Bar. No.: 165611

RICK A. SICHTA, ESQ. Fla. Bar. No.: 0669903 1833 Atlantic Boulevard Jacksonville, FL 32207 Phone: 904-396-3344 Fax: 904-396-0924 Attorneys for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, GARY RAY BOWLES, will be referred to as "Appellant." The State of Florida will be referred to as "Appellee." Attorney(s) Frank J. Tassone and Rick A. Sichta, who are representing Appellant in this matter, will be referred to as the "undersigned counsel."

References to the Record on Appeal will be designated "ROA." followed by the page number indicated on the Index to the Record on Appeal. Volume Three of the Record on Appeal will be designated "ROA," Vol. III, followed by the page number of Volume III on the Record of Appeal.

STATEMENTS OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Gary Ray Bowles was arrested by Jacksonville Sheriff's Office officials on November 22, 1994 in relation to the murder of Walter Hinton. During the subsequent police interrogation, appellant gave both oral and written confessions to the murder. The grand jury indicted Appellant in December of 1994 on charges of first-degree murder and robbery. Bowles pled guilty to premeditated first-degree murder, and the jury in the subsequent penalty phase recommended death by a 10-2 vote. The trial court sentenced appellant to Death.

On appeal, the Florida Supreme Court (hereinafter FSC) vacated the death sentence and remanded the case for re-sentencing on August 27, 1998. The FSC found that the trial court erred in allowing the state to introduce evidence of Appellant's alleged hatred for homosexual men in the penalty phase as it was not harmless and was a prevalent feature of the penalty phase.¹

On remand, the re-sentencing jury recommended death, voting 12-0. The trial court again imposed the death penalty on or about September 7, 1999.²

¹ See <u>*Bowles*</u>, 716 So. 2d at 769.

² The trial court found the following five aggravating circumstances: (1) Bowles was convicted of two other capital felonies and two other violent felonies; (2) Bowles was on felony probation in 1994 when he committed the murder as a result of a July, 18, 1991 conviction and sentence to four years in prison followed by six years probation for a robbery in Volusia county; (3) the murder was committed during a robbery or an attempted robbery, and the murder was committed for pecuniary gain (merged into one factor); (4) the murder was heinous, atrocious, or

Appellant appealed this sentence to the FSC, raising twelve issues.³ The FSC

denied this appeal, affirming Appellant's sentence on October 11, 2001.

cruel (HAC); and (5) the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP). The trial court assigned tremendous weight to the prior violent capital felony convictions, great weight to the HAC and CCP aggravators, significant weight to the robbery-pecuniary gain aggravator, and some weight to the fact that appellant was on probation for a robbery conviction. The trial court rejected the two statutory mitigators advanced by Bowles: (1) Extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the murder and (2) substantially diminished capacity to appreciate the criminality of his acts at the time of the murder. The trial court found and assigned weight to the following non-statutory mitigating factors: significant weight to evidence that Bowles had an abusive childhood; some weight to Bowles' lack of education; little weight to Bowles' use of intoxicants at the time of the murder; and no weight to the circumstances which caused Bowles to leave home or his circumstances overwhelmingly outweighed the mitigating circumstances. See *Bowles*, 804 So. 2d 1173

(1) the trial court erred in allowing the use of peremptory challenges to remove prospective jurors who were in favor of the death penalty but would only impose it under appropriate circumstances; (2) the trial court erred in allowing the State to introduce in aggravation for the first time at this re-sentencing hearing evidence of two prior similar murders for which the defendant was convicted after the first sentencing hearing; (3) the trial court erred in finding HAC; (4) the trial court erred in rejecting the proposed HAC jury instruction; (5) the trial court's CCP instruction to the jury was unconstitutionally vague; (6) the trial court erred in finding the robbery-pecuniary gain aggravator; (7) the trial court erred by giving little weight or no weight to the non-statutory mitigators; (8) the trial court erred in rejecting the proposed victim impact evidence jury instruction; (9) the trial court erred by rejecting the two statutory mental mitigators of extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the murder and substantially diminished capacity to appreciate the criminality of acts at the time of the murder; (10) the trial court erred in giving the standard jury instruction on mitigation instead of the requested specific nonstatutory mitigation instructions; (11) the trial court erred in rejecting the requested jury instructions defining mitigation; and (12) the trial court committed reversible error in allowing impermissible hearsay.

The undersigned was appointed to represent Appellant on February 28, 2002. Following the denial of a Writ of Certiorari by the United States Supreme Court on June 17, 2002, Appellant filed an amended motion pursuant to <u>Florida</u> <u>Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851</u> with the trial court on August 29, 2003.⁴ The state's response was filed November 18, 2003, and Appellant's reply

⁴ Appellant presented nine claims in said pleading, namely: (1) Counsel for Mr. Bowles failed to sufficiently present both statutory and/or non-statutory mental mitigating factors, in clear violation of 8th and 14th Amendment rights; (2) The Court erred in denying defense counsel's requested Jury Instruction defining both Statutory and non-statutory mitigation, in direct violation of Mr. Bowles Eighth and Fourteenth amendment rights; (3) The trial court erred in instructing the jury that they could consider victim impact evidence, in violation of defendant's Eighth and Fourteenth amendment rights; (4) Mr. Bowles was denied the right to a jury trial in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution; (4)(a) Florida's Death Penalty scheme is effectually similar to the Arizona scheme found unconstitutional by the United State Supreme Court in *Ring v. Arizona*; (4)(b) Under Articles three and six, and clause three of the Constitution of the United States, Florida's Judicial Officers must apply the holding of *Ring* to the Florida's Death Penalty Scheme; (4)(c) Even should this Court determine that the decision in *Ring* constitutes a "new rule", the Court must retroactively grant constitutional relief to Mr. Bowles; (4)(d) The right to a Jury trial is a fundamental bedrock procedural element of a trial as guaranteed by the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth amendments to the constitution of the United States; (4)(e) The unconstitutional procedures authorized by Florida's Death penalty statute infect the entire framework of the trial by jury so that the death sentence imposed under the statute must be vacated; (5) Florida's Death Penalty scheme as applied violated Bowles' Constitutionally guaranteed right to a fair and impartial trial under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States constitution because the statute under which he was sentenced, Fl. Stat. 921.141, did not meet the heightened reliability requirements of a capital sentencing scheme and failed to adequately safeguard his right to a fair trial by permitting unreliable evidence to be used against him. (6) Bowles was unconstitutionally deprived of his Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights

was filed on January 21, 2004. A <u>Huff</u> hearing was conducted on February 17, 2004, and a subsequent evidentiary hearing was conducted on February 8, 2005. Appellant filed closing argument for said hearing on April 12, 2005; the state filed its closing argument on May 12, 2005. The trial court denied Appellant's motion on August 12, 2005. ⁵ The Notice of Appeal of the trial court's ruling was filed on December 9, 2005. This timely appeal from the trial court's denial of Appellant's 3.850/3.851 Motion follows.

because under Florida Statute 921.141 he was not given notice of the nature of the charges against him and he was not indicted on every element of the offense for which he was charged. (7) Bowles conviction under Fl. Stat. 921.141 is constitutionally invalid because the Jury's findings of Death eligibility was not unanimous, in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments and Article I, Sections 2, 9, 16, and 17 of the State of Florida Constitution. (9) Defendant was unconstitutionally sentenced to death because defendant was denied a fair jury trial in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth amendments to the Constitution of the United States and Article I sections 2, 9, 16, and 17 of the Florida Constitution; (10) Florida's Death Penalty scheme as applied violated Bowles' constitutionally guaranteed right to a fair and impartial trial under the Fifth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution because the Statute under which he was sentenced, Fl. Stat. 921.141, did not meet the heightened reliability requirements of a Capital sentencing scheme and failed to adequately safeguard his right to a fair trial by permitting unreliable evidence to be used against him.

⁵ Specifically, the trial court dismissed claims one through eight as, "procedurally barred either having been raised on direct appeal or because they should have been raised on direct appeal." (See ROA, pg. 156) The trial court, while addressing each claim in the order, only effectively considered claims nine and ten in its decision to deny the motion.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In regards to when a trial court summarily denies a claim for postconviction relief, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(d) provides that when denial is not predicated on the legal insufficiency of the motion on its face, a copy of that portion of the files and records that conclusively shows that the prisoner is entitled to no relief shall be attached to the order. Williams v. State, 642 So. 2d 67 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Moreover, if the trial court, in summarily denying a claim for postconviction relief, does not conclusively rebut said claim by record attachments, the summarily denial must be reversed and remanded for an evidentiary hearing. See Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 1999)[Holding that, the movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel if he alleges specific facts which are not conclusively rebutted by the record and which demonstrate a deficiency in performance that prejudiced the defendant...upon review of a trial court's summary denial of a postconviction relief without an evidentiary hearing, the court must accept all allegations."]; See also Moreover, as to those claims which raise ineffective assistance of trial counsel that "are not conclusively rebutted by the record and which demonstrate a deficiency in performance that prejudiced the defendant," Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 1990), the appellants are entitled to an evidentiary hearing.

Regarding Appellant's claims where an evidentiary hearing was held, the Florida Supreme Court sets forth the abiding standard of review for an appellate court to apply when reviewing a trial court's ruling on an ineffectiveness of counsel claim. It has summarized that standard as follows. "The standard of review for a trial court's ruling on an ineffectiveness claim is two-pronged. The appellate court must defer to the trial court's findings on factual issues but must review the trial court's ultimate conclusions on the performance and prejudice prongs *de novo*." *State v. Coney*, 845 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 2003).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES INVOLVED

- 1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT BOTH PRONGS IN THE <u>STRICKLAND V. WASHINGTON</u> TEST WERE NOT VIOLATED BY APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL IN NOT CALLING AN EXPERT WITNESS TO TESTIFY AS TO MITIGATION, TO SUBSTANTIATE DEFENDANT'S CLAIMS THAT TWO STATUTORY MITIGATORS EXISTED IN HIS CASE
- 2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT BOTH PRONGS IN <u>STRICKLAND V. WASHINGTON</u> TEST WERE NOT VIOLATED BY APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL IN FAILING TO REBUT THE EXISTENCE OF THE HAC AGGRAVATING FACTOR WITH EXPERT TESTIMONY
- 3. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING CLAIM ONE OF APPELLANT'S 3.850 MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, AS THE CLAIM WAS NOT INSUFFICIENTLY PLEAD NOR CONCLUSIVELY REFUTED BY THE RECORD
- 4. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING CLAIMS FOUR, FIVE, SIX, AND SEVEN APPELLANT'S 3.850 MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, IN REGARDS TO WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONVICTION(S) AND SENTENCE (AND THE PROCEDURES USED THEREBY TO OBTAIN SAME) WERE IN VIOLATION OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND <u>RING V. ARIZONA</u> AND <u>APPRENDI V. NEW JERSEY</u>
- 5. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING APPELLANT'S AMENDED CLAIM IN HIS 3.850 MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTITLED "MOTION TO REOPEN TESTIMONY."

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

- **APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN** 1. FAILING TO INVESTIGATE AND/OR CALL AN EXPERT TO TESTIFY AT APPELLANT'S SENTENCING PHASE. IN AN EFFORT TO CORROBORATE AND SUBSTANTIATE **APPELLANT'S** TWO STATUTORY MITIGATING FACTORS, TO WIT: (1) THE APPELLANT SUFFERED FROM EXTREME EMOTIONAL DISTURBANCE AT THE TIME OF THE MURDER, AND (2) THE CAPICITY OF THE APPELLANT TO APPRECIATE THE CRIMINALITY OF HIS ACTS, WAS, AT THE TIME OF THE HOMICIDE, SUBSTANTIALLY DIMINISHED. BECAUSE SAID STATUTORY MITIGATORS WERE NOT BROUGHT TO FRUITION BY DEFENSE COUNSEL. APPELLANT WAS SENTENCING PREJUDICED. AS THE JURY **RECOMMENDED DEATH AND THE SENTENCING** JUDGE SENTENCED HIM TO DEATH. THEREBY FINDING THAT SAID STATUTORY MITIGATORS WERE NOT ENTITLED TO ANY WEIGHT.
- 2. **APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN** FAILING TO REBUT THE EXISTENCE OF THE STATE'S **AGGRAVATING FACTOR, TO-WIT, HAC, WITH EXPERT** TESTIMONY SHOWING THAT THE VICTIM WAS UNCONSCIOUS AT THE TIME OF DEATH. BECAUSE THE HAC AGGRAVATING FACTOR (NAMELY THE VICTIM BEING UNCONSCIOUS) WENT UNREBUTTED, APPELLANT WAS PREJUDICED AS HE WAS **RECOMMENDED DEATH BY HIS SENTENCING JURY,** AND THE TRIAL COURT SENTENCED HIM TO DEATH. **GIVING SAID AGGRAVATOR "GREAT WEIGHT."**
- 3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT CLAIM ONE OF APPELLANT'S 3.850 MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF STATED "CONCLUSORY ALLEGATIONS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL," AS SAID CLAIM ALLEGED SPECIFIC

FACTS THAT WERE NOT CONCLUSIVELY REFUTTED BY THE RECORD OR RECORD ATTACHMENTS

- 4. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING CLAIMS FOUR THROUGH SEVEN IN APPELLANT'S 3.850 MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, AS SAID CLAIMS ILLUSTRATE THAT APPELLANT'S CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCE WERE IN VIOLATION OF THE 4TH, 6TH, 14TH AMENDMENTS OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION, AND VIOLATE THE U.S. SUPREME COURT HOLDINGS IN <u>RING V. ARIZONA</u> AND <u>APPRENDI</u> <u>V. NEW JERSEY.</u>
- 5. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIM ILLUSTRATED IN HIS AMENDED MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTITLED "MOTION TO REOPEN TESTIMONY." APPELLANT'S <u>CRAWFORD</u> RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED AS OFFICER JAN EDENFIELD'S TESTIMONY WAS HEARSAY AND THEREBY PREJUDICED APPELLANT, AS THE EXISTENCE OF A PRIOR AGGRAVATING FACTOR (PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY) WAS ESTABLISHED IN PART USING AS EVIDENCE SAID HEARSAY TESTIMONY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA STATE OF FLORIDA 500 South Duval Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1927

GARY RAY BOWLES

Appellant,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA, 12188

Appeal No.:SL.T. Court No.:9

SC05-2264 94-CF-

Appellee.

ARGUMENT ONE:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL'S CONDUCT WAS NOT IN VIOLATION OF STRICKLAND V. WASHINGTON IN FAILING TO INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT EVIDENCE (EXPERT TESTIMONY) IN SUPPORT **OF TWO STATUTORY MITIGATING FACTORS. TO-WIT: (1) THE** DEFENDANT SUFFERED FROM EXTREME EMOTIONAL DISTURBANCE AT THE TIME OF THE MURDER, AND (2) THE CAPACITY OF THE DEFENDANT TO APPRECIATE THE CRIMINALITY OF HIS ACTS, WAS, AT THE TIME OF THE HOMICIDE, SUBSTANTIALLY DIMINISHED. APPELLANT WAS PREJUDICED THEREBY, AS THE TRIAL COURT ASSIGNED NO WEIGHT TO SAID STATUTORY MITIGATORS.

In Claim Nine of Appellant's Motion for Postconviction relief, pursuant to Rule 3.850/3.851, it was argued that Appellant's trial counsel's (See ROA, pg. 74) (Claim Nine) representation was violative of the two prongs in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, in regards to defense counsel's failure to investigate and present evidence corroborating Appellant's statutory mitigation, pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth amendments of the United States Constitution and Article I, sections 2, 9, 16, and 22 of the Florida State Constitution.

In particular, Appellant's counsel did not substantiate the statutory mitigators with evidence obtained from its expert, Dr. McMahon (Nor did counsel present argument that mental statutory mitigation was prominent in Appellant's case), to wit: (1) the defendant suffered from extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the murder, and (2) the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his acts, was at the time of the homicide substantially diminished. (See ROA pgs. 78-88)

In lieu of this failure to present said evidence, the sentencing court gave no weight to said statutory mitigators in its sentencing order. (See Exhibit A, pgs. 11-15) Said failure to present evidence in the form of expert testimony in support of the two statutory mitigators prejudiced Appellant, as the trial court with no evidence in support of said mitigators, was at liberty to give them little or no weight, and rightfully did so. (See Exhibit A, pgs. 11-15) (*See also <u>Bowles v. State</u>*, 804 So. 2d 1173; <u>Ragsdale v. State</u>, 798 So. 2d 713 (Fla. 2000) [stating, "counsel did not present an expert at the proceeding to testify regarding how defendant's child abuse, drug and

alcohol abuse, and the history of head trauma may have contributed to defendant's psychological status at the time of the murder...this was never introduced in the penalty phase].

Moreover, Appellant's counsel, despite having substantial mitigation by way of Dr. McMahon, did not attempt to introduce said evidence outside of the jury's presence, namely in the <u>Spencer</u> hearing (Supp. ROA., pg. 1083). As such, said conduct by Appellant's trial counsel was in violation of <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, as well as being in violation of Appellant's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, and Article 1, sections 2, 9, 16, and 22 of the Florida Constitution.

During Appellant's evidentiary hearing on his 3.850 Motion for Postconviction relief, Appellant's trial counsel admitted that he did not put on any expert witness testimony to explain Appellant's mental and psychological status in general or at the time of the instant crime. (See ROA, volume III, pgs. 169-172). Trial counsel did however put on several witnesses (two of which knew Appellant personally), to explain Appellant's alcohol and drug dependency, abuse at the hands of his stepfather, witnessing severe abuse of his mother, and lack of a true parental father during childhood. (See ROA, volume III, pg. 176)

13

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