#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY RAY BOWLES,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. SC05-2264

STATE of FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

RONALD A. LATHAN, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0018477
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300, EXT. 3580
COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

#

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

The fact that the Bowles' attorney, Bill White, chose not to call McMahon to testify was purely a strategic decision that was intended to strengthen, rather than detract from, his mitigation claims. By her own admission, McMahon believed her testimony would have done Bowles more harm than good - a legitimate basis for not calling her at all. See, e.g., Gaskin v. State, 822 So. 2d 1243, 1248 (Fla. 2002) ("Trial counsel will not be held to be deficient when she makes a reasonable strategic to not present mental mitigation testimony during the penalty phase because it could open the door to other damaging testimony."). Both White and McMahon acknowledged struggling with whether or not it was appropriate to call McMahon - particularly if her testimony would have subjected her to a withering cross-examination that would have elicited very damaging information. See, e.g., Cave v. State, 899 So. 2d 1042, 1055 (Fla. 2005) (recognizing that the decision by Cave's attorney not to bring forth mental health experts who had evaluated Cave

"was a reasonable strategic decision made after fully considering the reports and depositions of . . . [the] experts . . . and weighing the benefits to be gained from presenting such testimony against the damaging information that the State would be able to elicit from the experts on cross-examination"). White's rationale for not calling McMahon certainly finds strong support in this Court's jurisprudence.

Perhaps McMahon would have been able to testify regarding some potentially mitigating aspects of Bowles' life - such as his history of being abused as a child; but, McMahon would have also testified that Bowles was not encumbered by a mental infirmity that lessened his culpability; and further, she would have stated that Bowles' had a likelihood of future violence. See, e.g., Reed v. State, 875 So. 2d 415, 437 (Fla. 2004) ("An ineffective assistance claim does not arise from the failure to present mitigation evidence where the evidence presents a double-edged sword.") (emphasis added). This Court has acknowledged that a decision not to bring forth a mental health expert whose prospective testimony will undermine a capital defendant's mitigation claims is entirely reasonable under Strickland. See, e.g., Haliburton v. Singletary, 691 So. 2d 466, 471 (Fla. 1997) (determining that no Strickland violation occurred when attorney did not call mental health expert during penalty phase because although the expert would have discussed the fact Singletary was brain damaged, the expert's testimony would have also encompassed the fact that Singletary was extremely dangerous and would potentially kill again); see also Reed, 875 So. 2d at 473 (affirming the denial of Strickland claim that was premised on the fact that a particular mental health expert was not called because, as the expert "himself acknowledged[,] certain aspects of his examination and testimony might have been more helpful to the State than the defense").

The record in this case also indicates that Bowles penalty phase counsel, White, had more than twenty years of experience representing capital defendants by the time he served as Bowles counsel; thus his decision not to call McMahon as a mitigation witness proves all the more reasonable. See, e.g., Provenzano v. Singletary, 148 F. 3d 1327, 1332 (11th Cir. 1998) ("Our strong reluctance to second guess strategic decisions is even greater where those decisions were made by experienced criminal defense counsel.").

Consequently, the State respectfully urges this Court to deny Bowles' claim that this counsel was ineffective for failing to call a mental health expert to testify during the penalty phase, as the expert acknowledged that her testimony would have done more harm than good to Bowles' mitigation claims.

II. BOWLES ATTORNEY WAS NOT CONSTITUTIONALLY DEFICIENT FOR FAILING TO BRING FORTH EXPERT TESTIMONY THAT WOULD HAVE GONE TOWARDS REBUTTING EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL AGGRAVATOR (HAC) THAT WAS FOUND BY THE TRIAL COURT

Bowles argues that his lawyer also contravened the tenets of Strickland because expert testimony was not brought forth that would have gone toward's challenging the applicability of the HAC aggravator. Bowles avers that during the penalty phase, the State brought forth Dr. Margarita Arruza, a medical examiner who analyzed the crime scene and performed the autopsy on Hinton. Arruza testified regarding the circumstances of Hinton's death, and found that, based on the nature of Hinton's injuries, he had been manually strangled (PP. III 550). She also noted that Hinton did not die immediately after being struck in the face by the forty-pound block (PP. III 556-57). Further, Arruza determined that Hinton had defensive arm wounds, and that a rag and toilet paper were stuffed down Hinton's throat; therefore, these factors evidenced that Hinton attempted to fight back and was not immediately rendered unconscious (PP. III 557).

The State believes Arruza's testimony clearly suggested the applicability of the HAC aggravator. In turn, Bowles argues that a medical expert should have been brought forth to refute the testimony of Dr. Arruza. Bowles' brief argues, for example, that the testimony provided by Dr. Ronald Keith Wright at the postconviction evidentiary hearing supports Bowles' contention that Hinton died immediately – thereby calling into question the HAC

aggravator's applicability.4

This Court has stated the HAC aggravator is applicable to those murders where the victim is tortured, i.e., wherein the perpetrator's actions were so wanton, remorseless, and egregious as to exemplify a seeming "desire to inflict a high degree of pain or utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of another." Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998) (citation omitted). Moreover, this Court has also recognized that in order to apply the HAC aggravator, the victim must be cognizant of her imminent death. Way v. State, 760 So. 2d 903, 919 (Fla. 2000); see also Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988) (observing that the applicability of the HAC aggravator must be assessed from the victim's vantage point "in accordance with a common-sense Plainly stated, "the HAC inference from the circumstances"). aggravator focuses on the means and manner in which death is inflicted and the immediate circumstances surrounding the death." Brown v. State, 721 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1998).

Bowles' averment misapprehends both the totality of the record, and relevant precedent. First, although Bowles couches his argument as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, he is in essence arguing that the HAC aggravator should not have been found

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>One should recall that Wright did not perform the autopsy on Hinton, had not been to the crime scene, and prior to testifying at the postconviction evidentiary hearing, had not read Bowles' confession.

applicable to this matter. Despite his semantics, Bowles cannot escape the fact that he has already argued on direct appeal that the HAC aggravator should not have been found. See, e.g., Bowles v. State, 804 So. 2d at 1179 ("we find that competent, substantial evidence in the record supports the trial court's finding that [Hinton] was strangled while conscious for a time sufficient to suffer a physically and mentally cruel and tortuous death . . . [a]ccordingly we affirm the trial court's finding of HAC"). As such, Bowles ineffective assistance of counsel claim is procedurally barred as he is merely seeking to relitigate this Court's finding regarding the HAC. See, e.g., Marquard v. State, 850 So. 2d 417, 433 (Fla. 2003); Schwab v. State, 814 So. 2d 402, 413 (2002).

Moreover, the factual basis underlying the HAC also derived from a confession that Bowles provided to the Jacksonville Sheriff's Department, wherein Bowles acknowledged that he struggled with Hinton before he died. The confession was transcribed by Jacksonville Sheriff's Officer, J.P. Collins. At Bowles' penalty phase proceeding, the confession was read into the record. Bowles' confession, as read by Collins, provided in relevant part:

I went outside and picked up one concrete block and went into [Hinton's] room where he was sleeping. I raised the block over my head and dropped it on [Hinton's] head. [Hinton] fell off the bed . . .and I choked him with my arm. [Hinton] was struggling a little then stuffed a rag — a maroon rag into [Hinton's] mouth while sitting or kneeling on [Hinton's] side. I then covered [Hinton] up with bedspread and sheets, walked out of the room closing

the door.

(PP. IV 637-38).

Because "[a] confession is direct evidence in Florida," Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381, 390 (Fla. 1994), Bowles' words evidenced the fact that Hinton was struck with a forty-pound stone, strangled, and gagged before he died - thereby supporting the HAC. See, e.g., Conde v. State, 860 So. 2d 930, 956 (Fla. 2003) (recognizing that evidence of strangulation supported HAC aggravator). Thus, even if the struggle lasted only a short period of time, Hinton was cognizant of his imminent death and therefore the HAC was properly found. See, e.g., Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404, 410 (Fla. 1992) ("fear and emotional strain may be considered as contributing to the heinous nature of the murder, even when the victim's death was almost instantaneous").

Accordingly, Bowles' claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the applicability of the HAC aggravator is procedurally barred and should be rejected; however if this Court decides to countenance Bowles' claims - based on his own admissions - they should still be deemed without merit.

III. THE SUMMARY DENIAL OF BOWLES' CLAIM THAT HIS TRIAL COUNSEL WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO TO BRING FORTH SUBSTANTIVE MITIGATION EVIDENCE WAS A PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM THAT DID NOT REQUIRE BEING ADDRESSED

Bowles' third claim is drafted somewhat obtusely; however, he argues that the postconviction evidentiary court ruled erroneously

when it summarily denied his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence that would have gone towards, supporting two statutory mitigators: (1) inability to appreciate the criminality of his actions or conform his conduct to the dictates of the law, and (2) that he suffered from extreme mental or emotional disturbance contemporaneous to the crime.

Bowles' present claim derives from his Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief, wherein he asserted that during the penalty phase proceeding, the court failed to accord significant weight to his mitigation claims, see, e.g., (Vol I. 30-31) (" . . . Mr. Bowles suffered from extreme mental and emotional disturbance and his ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was significantly diminished . . . [the fact that] the trial court in this case deliberately refused to find the two statutory mental mitigators when the evidence clearly supported finding them, was reversible error.").

This claim was summarily denied. Bowles argues that the summary denial of his claim was improper and constitutes reversible error. However, Bowles seems to misapprehend when a summary denial is warranted, as the summary denial of a postconviction claim is entirely appropriate if it is clearly shown that the claimant is not entitled to any relief. See Garcia v. State, 2006 Fla. LEXIS 2614, at \*20 (Fla. Nov. 9, 2006) ("We have explained 'that a defendant is entitled to a postconviction evidentiary hearing

unless (1) the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is not entitled to any relief, or (2) the motion or a particular claim is legally insufficient.'") (quoting Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 2000)); see also Fla. R. App. P. 9.141(b)(2)(D).

Bowles is essentially arguing that the trial court did not give proper consideration to his mitigation claims, and that his trial counsel failed to vigorously argue certain statutory mitigators - thereby rendering his death sentence invalid. identical arguments were raised and addressed somewhat at length on direct appeal, see, e.g., Bowles, 804 So. 2d at 1180 ("Bowles' ninth claim is that the trial court erroneously rejected two statutory mental mitigating factors . . . [w]e disagree"); therefore the summary denial of these arguments in the Order Denying Defendant's Second Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief was entirely appropriate. See, e.g., Jones v. Moore, 794 So. 2d 579, 590 (Fla. 2001) (observing that argument raised in habeas petition, which essentially challenged the propriety of Jones' death sentence, was procedurally barred because it had been raised on direct appeal); see also Gorby v. State, 819 So. 2d 664, 686 n. 39 (Fla. 2002) ("To the extent that Gorby also seeks to reargue the merits of the trial judge's finding of the prior violent felony aggravator, that attempt is procedurally barred because the issue was raised on direct appeal.").

Therefore, this claim should be denied.

# IV. THE SUMMARY DENIALS OF BOWLES' POSTCONVICTION CLAIMS BROUGHT PURSUANT TO RING WERE CLEARLY DICTATED BY THIS COURT'S PRECEDENT AND THEREFORE THE DENIAL OF THESE CLAIMS WAS APPROPRIATE

Bowles also seeks to argue that his postconviction claims, falling under the ambit of Ring v. Arizona, were summarily denied improperly. However, as this Court has repeatedly recognized, Ring is not retroactive to a capital defendant whose conviction and death sentence became final prior to the rendering of that decision. See, e.g., Nixon, v. State, 932 So. 2d 1009, 1024 (Fla. 2006); Jones v. State, 928 So. 2d 1178, 1193 (Fla. 2006); Foster v. State, 929 So. 2d 524, 531 (Fla. 2006); Johnson v. State, 904 So. 2d 400, 412 (Fla. 2005). Additionally, even if Ring was retroactive to Bowles' case, because the prior violent felony aggravator was found - as Bowles conceded to committing multiple murders - he has no basis to rely on Ring. See, e.g., Rodgers v. State, 2006 Fla. 2542, at \*44-45 (Fla. Oct. 26, 2006) ("Rodgers various grounds that the death penalty is argued on unconstitutional under Ring . . . we have repeatedly rejected these claims in cases such as this one in which one of the aggravating factors is a prior violent felony conviction.").

Consequently, the summary denials of Bowles' claims brought pursuant to *Ring* were warranted.

V. THE SUMMARY DENIAL OF BOWLES' POSTCONVICTION MOTION SEEKING TO RETROACTIVELY APPLY CRAWFORD v. WASHINGTON WAS

# DICTATED BY THIS COURT'S PRECEDENT AND THEREFORE SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

Finally, Bowles argues that the postconviction erroneously refused to consider a Motion to Reopen Testimony, which he brought in an effort to challenge, what he contended, was testimonial hearsay that impermissibly affected his penalty phase proceeding. Bowles had sought to argue, based on Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), that Corporal Jan Edenfield of the Tampa Police Department should not have been permitted to testify regarding the underlying facts of Bowles' 1982 conviction for sexual battery and aggravated battery. Edenfield testified regarding the nature of the injuries that the victim suffered via Bowles' attack (PP. IV 681-693). Bowles' counsel raised objections, but Corporal Edenfield was permitted to testify about the 1982 crime during the penalty phase. On direct appeal, Bowles argued Edenfield's testimony constituted impermissible hearsay testimony; however, this Court found that Bowles had had the opportunity to challenge the testimony - and did not; moreover, this Court found that even if allowing the testimony to be heard was improper, it was merely harmless error. See Bowles, 804 So. 2d at 1183-84.

Conceding that this claim has already been addressed and rejected by this Court - and is therefore procedurally barred - Bowles nevertheless argues that this Court should take the opportunity to revisit this ruling in light of *Crawford*.

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